THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001125
Case No. 2011-CP-32-02607

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Frances Arthur Oxner, Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

A. Mattison Bogan
Blake T. Williams
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

Robert Michael Dudek
David Alexander
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

Attorneys for Frances Arthur Oxner

RECEIVED

JUN 29 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Should this matter be dismissed on procedural grounds?**
- II. **Did the trial court err by finding that no unconstitutional delay occurred between the filing of the petition and the hearing pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B)?**
- III. **Did the trial court err by finding that Oxner's procedural due process rights were not infringed despite his incompetency and resulting inability to assist counsel with his defense?**
- IV. **Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to seek dismissal of this matter on procedural grounds prior to the State re-indicting Oxner in 2014?**
- V. **Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B)'s deprivation of Oxner's constitutional right to a jury trial?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State initiated these proceedings against Appellant Frances Arthur Oxner (“Oxner”) pursuant to the South Carolina Sexually Violent Predator Act (“SVP Act”), S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-10, *et seq.* on July 11, 2011. (Petition; R. pp. 12-116.) This matter is before the Court on an issue of first impression—an appeal from the trial court’s finding beyond a reasonable doubt, after conducting a hearing pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B), that an SVP respondent committed the acts for which he was charged despite his incompetency to stand trial.

The State originally indicted Oxner for sexually violent crimes in 2005. (2005 Indictments, Ex. E to Petition; R. pp. 56-57, 60-63, 67-68, 72-73, 76-77.) The general sessions court ordered an evaluation of Oxner to determine his capacity to stand trial. (*See* Trial Transcript (“Tr.”) p. 4:18-25; R p. 120.) On April 24, 2005, Dr. Richard L. Frierson, M.D. issued an initial report finding that Oxner was incompetent to stand trial but likely to become fit to stand trial in the foreseeable future. (Report of Findings, Ex. C to Pet; R. pp. 31-34.) On June 14, 2005, the court issued an order for Oxner to be admitted to the hospital for 60 days, during which he would be treated and reevaluated. (Court Ordered Capacity Evaluation dated Oct. 31, 2005; R. pp. 250-53.) Oxner was admitted to the South Carolina Department of Mental Health on September 9, 2005. (*Id.*; R. p. 256.) From that date to the present, Oxner has been hospitalized in the Department of Mental Health system. (*See* Tr. p. 4:22-25; R. p. 120.) On October 31, 2005, Dr. Frierson conducted another evaluation whereby he determined that Oxner remained incompetent to stand trial. (Court Ordered Capacity Evaluation dated Oct. 31, 2005; R. pp. 250-53.) Soon after, the State *nolle prossed* all charges pending against Oxner.¹ (Tr. p. 5:8-15; R. p. 121.)

¹ The public index for Lexington County confirms that all charges were *nolle prossed* as of December 20, 2005.

Oxner continued to be evaluated over the years to determine whether he required further hospitalization. (See Probate Court Records, Ex. C to Petition; R. pp. 22-52.) At some point prior to May 2011, a Department of Mental Health physician recommended that Oxner be discharged from the forensic unit and transferred to a structured residential care facility.² (Petition p. 1; R. p. 12.) As the State explained, “release” meant Oxner was about to be “released from the facility where he was,” which is what initiated the SVP review. (See Tr. p. 4:25-5:7, 79:19-80:2; R. pp. 120-21, 195-96.)

Despite Oxner having no pending charges or convictions for any sexually violent offense, the Department of Mental Health referred the matter to the SVP Multi-Disciplinary Team for assessment pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-50. (See Petition p. 1; R. p. 12.) On May 19, 2011 the Multi-Disciplinary Team found that Oxner “satisfies the definition of a sexually violent predator” and referred the matter to the Prosecutor’s Review Committee for a probable cause determination under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-60. (Sexual Predator Referral Form, Ex. A to Petition; R. pp. 18-19.)

The Prosecutor’s Review Committee received the matter from the Multi-Disciplinary Team on May 24, 2011, and issued a probable cause determination on June 20, 2011. (Probable Cause Determination, Ex. B to Petition; R. pp. 20-21.) The Committee determined that there is “probable cause to believe that [Oxner] has been convicted of a sexually violent offense,” and that he suffered from a mental abnormality or personality disorder making him “likely to engage in acts of sexual violent if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.”

Id.

² It is critical to note the Department of Mental Health never recommended that Oxner be released out into general public. Rather, the Department solely recommended that Oxner be transferred to a less restrictive facility, but still one where he would still continue to receive structured care.

On July 11, 2011, in light of this determination, the State filed the present Petition pursuant to the SVP Act. (Petition p. 2; R. p. 13.) In the Petition, the State requested that the court conduct a hearing under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B), conduct a probable cause hearing, order that a qualified expert evaluate Oxner if probable cause is found, and hold a trial under the SVP Act if appropriate. (*Id.*)

On August 15, 2011, the trial court issued a Probable Cause Order. (Probable Cause Order; R. pp. 10-11.) The trial court explained that it appeared there was probable cause to believe Oxner met the statutory criteria for a sexually violent predator, that there was sufficient evidence to require that Oxner be taken into custody and confined in a secure facility, and that a hearing should be held to allow Oxner to contest probable cause. (*Id.*) However, the Order noted that it “further appear[ed]” the case should proceed under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B). (*Id.*) Therefore, the court ordered that Oxner be taken into custody if he was not already in a secure facility; that Oxner be served with the Petition and Order; that a hearing be held **within 72 hours** after respondent was taken into custody, if he was not already in custody, under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B) and thereafter to contest probable cause; and that counsel be appointed to represent Oxner. (*Id.*)

On August 16, 2011, the Clerk of Court appointed Geoffrey Michael Clemens, Esq. to represent Oxner. (Order Appointing Counsel, R. p. 8.) The filed Affidavit of Service shows that Oxner was served with the Petition and Probable Cause Order on September 9, 2011. (Affidavit of Service; R. p. 249.) Attorney Clemens then filed a Motion for Brady and Other Favorable Material on September 20, 2011. (*Brady Motion*; R. pp. 244-48.)

The SVP case record reflects no further activity until 2015. However, as Assistant Attorney General James Bogle explained at the S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B) hearing, “the way the law reads . . . it talks about a case where the [Respondent] is charged.” (Tr. p. 5:16-19; R. p.

121.) Thus, to correct the fact that Oxner was not charged with any offenses, the Attorney General's office "had [Oxner] re-indicted" in 2014. (*Id.*; 2014 Indictments, Court's Exs. 2 and 3; R. pp. 121, 225-26.) Because Oxner was re-indicated, the Solicitor's office had to obtain another competency evaluation. (*See* Court Ordered Capacity Evaluation dated Sept. 11, 2014, Court's Ex. 1; R. pp. 218-24.) On September 8, 2014, Dr. Richard L. Frierson, M.D. issued an evaluation, again finding that Oxner lacked the capacity to stand trial and was unlikely to gain the capacity to stand trial in the foreseeable future. (*Id.*) These charges remain pending in Lexington County under separate criminal proceedings.

The next item of activity in Oxner's SVP action, however, did not occur until September 10, 2015, when the Clerk of Court issued an order appointing Aimee Zmroczek, Esq. as Oxner's new counsel. (Order Appointing Counsel; R. p. 9.) On April 21, 2016, the trial court finally held the S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B) hearing. (Tr. p. 1; R. p. 117.) During the hearing, Oxner's counsel raised objections to the constitutionality of the statute, the delay between the filing of the petition and the evidentiary hearing under § 44-48-100(B), and Oxner's inability to assist her with the defense due to his incompetence. However, the trial court rejected each of these arguments and proceeded with hearing the merits.

The court heard testimony from three live witnesses and also conducted an in-camera, ex-parte discussion with Oxner and his counsel. After hearing brief summation arguments from counsel, the court made an oral finding on the record that Oxner committed the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt. (Tr. p. 89:1-24; R. p. 205.) Subsequently, the trial court issued a written Order for Evaluation Pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act, filed on May 18, 2016. (Order; R. pp. 1-7.) In the Order, the trial court found beyond a reasonable doubt that Oxner committed the acts with which he was charged, that he remains incompetent to stand trial, and that

probable cause exists to have him evaluated under the SVP Act. (*Id.* at 4-5; R. pp. 6-7.) Therefore, the trial court ordered that an evaluation be conducted by a court appointed expert, Amy C. Swan, Psy. D., to determine if Oxner is a sexually violent predator. (*Id.* at 5; R. p. 7.) On May 27, 2016, Oxner timely filed a notice of appeal of the trial court's Order pursuant to § 44-48-100(B).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The 2014 indictments allege: (1) that in August 1, 1979 through June 1, 1980, Oxner committed assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct with a minor less than eleven years of age and (2) that on or about the summer of 2004, Oxner committed sexual battery upon a minor less than eleven years of age. (2014 Indictments, Court's Exs. 2 and 3; R. pp. 225-26.) At the § 44-48-100(B) evidentiary hearing, the State presented live testimony from each of the alleged victims. Both victims were relatives of Oxner.

The first alleged victim identified Oxner at the hearing and testified that sometime between August 1979 and June 1980, he attempted to take her clothes off, exposed himself to her, and tried to sexually assault her. (Tr. p. 32:16-34:20, 40:24-41:4; R. pp. 148-50, 156-57.) She admitted, however, that she did not report this information to law enforcement until 2004 when her son, the second alleged victim, came forward. (Tr. p. 36:14-22, 42:21-25; R. pp. 152, 158.) She agreed on cross examination that some of the information she testified about was not included in her initial statement to police, but stated that she had remembered additional details over the years. (Tr. p. 48:23-49:5; R. pp. 164-65.) During her testimony, the State introduced several photographs of Oxner's home into evidence. (*See* Photographs, State's Exs. 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5; R. pp. 227-34.)

The second alleged victim also identified Oxner at the hearing and testified that sometime during the summer of 2004, Oxner sexually assaulted him. (Tr. p. 53:1-4, 53:13-20, 55:20-22; R. pp. 169, 171.) He stated that not long after the incident, he told his aunt about what happened and

she brought him to speak with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department. (Tr. p. 56:17-22; R. p. 172.) During this meeting, he gave a written statement to a detective detailing the allegations. (Tr. p. 56:23-57:12; R. pp. 172-73) During his testimony, the State introduced into evidence additional photographs showing pornography found in Oxner's home. (*See* Photographs, State's Exs. 6, 7, and 8; R. pp. 237-42.) The second victim admitted that some of the information he testified about at the hearing may have been omitted from his initial statement, but noted that he was ten years old at the time of the statement. (Tr. p. 66:8-67:5; R. 183-83.)

The State's final witness was Lieutenant Eric Russell with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department. (Tr. p. 68:19-22; R. p. 184.) Lieutenant Russell testified that he conducted the initial interviews with the alleged victims, and that their written statements were made in connection with his investigation. (Tr. p. 69:1-16; R. p. 185.) He also testified that he obtained a search warrant for Oxner's property after completing the interviews, and that he and another officer served the search warrant. (Tr. p. 70:1-18; R. p. 186.) Russell explained that the pictures introduced into evidence at the hearing were taken by one of the other officers at the scene. (Tr. p. 70:1-18, 74:12-19; R. pp. 186, 190.)

ARGUMENT

This case presents a matter of first impression, as the hearing below was the first instance of an SVP proceeding under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B). (Tr. p. 4:18-20; R. p. 120 (noting that this section had "never been used until" Oxner's hearing).) The trial court's order warrants reversal for several reasons. First, this SVP action should be dismissed on procedural grounds because the proceedings were instituted while Oxner did not meet the statutory definition of a person "convicted of a sexually violent offense." Moreover, even if the trial court had the power to continue with the case, an unconstitutional delay occurred between the filing of the petition and

the § 44-48-100(B) hearing. Finally, these proceedings violated Oxner's procedural due process rights, as the § 44-48-100(B) proceedings are analogous to trying a criminal defendant while he or she is incompetent to stand trial.

Additionally, in addition to the direct challenges above, Oxner should be entitled to raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims in this appeal, as there is no other mechanism for asserting such claims under South Carolina law. Assuming Oxner may assert such arguments in this direct appeal, reversal is also warranted due to trial counsel's ineffectiveness in handling this matter. First, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to seek dismissal of the proceedings despite the clear procedural deficiencies. Second, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to § 44-48-100(B)'s deprivation of Oxner's constitutional right to a jury trial, as guaranteed by Article I, § 14 of the South Carolina Constitution. S.C. Const. art. I, § 14.

I. Dismissal is Warranted because the Statutory Prerequisites have not been Met.

The State wrongly instituted this action in 2011, contending that Oxner met the definition of a person convicted of a sexually violent offense. The State's petition asserted that Oxner met the statutory definition because he had been "charged with a Sexually Violent Offense, but found incompetent to stand trial." (Petition p. 1; R. p. 12.) This was erroneous. Although the State did charge Oxner with sexual crimes in 2005, each of the charges was *nolle prossed* later that same year. Thus, Oxner did not meet any of the statutory definitions of a person convicted of a sexually violent offense. Despite this, the State proceeded with filing a Petition pursuant to the SVP Act. Based on the incorrect information contained in the Petition, the trial court improperly permitted this matter to proceed by issuing an Order finding that there was probable cause to believe Oxner "meets the criteria of [a] sexually violent predator." (Probable Cause Order p. 1; R. p. 10.) This was reversible error. Additionally, even if the trial court's probable cause determination was

proper; the required hearing entitling Oxner to challenge probable cause was not held within the time mandated by the SVP Act and the trial court's Probable Cause Order. As a result, reversal is warranted.³

The SVP Act sets forth four different situations that may warrant the filing of a petition under the Act. The relevant portion of the statute for the present Petition states that "if a person has been convicted of a sexually violent offense," the agency with jurisdiction must give written notice to the Multi-Disciplinary Team, the victim, and the Attorney General within 270 days of the person's anticipated release from total confinement. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-40(A)(1). Critically, the SVP statutes define "convicted of a sexually violent offense" to mean that a person has:

- (a) pled guilty to, pled nolo contendere to, or been convicted of a sexually violent offense;
- (b) been adjudicated delinquent as a result of the commission of a sexually violent offense;
- (c) ***been charged but determined to be incompetent to stand trial for a sexually violent offense;***
- (d) been found not guilty by reason of insanity of a sexually violent offense; or
- (e) been found guilty but mentally ill of a sexually violent offense.

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-30(6) (emphasis added).

Once the Multi-Disciplinary Team receives the matter, they must assess whether or not the person satisfies the definition of a sexually violent predator within thirty days. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-50. If such a finding is made, then the matter is referred to the Prosecutor's Review

³ As detailed below, the State's subsequent re-indictment of Oxner in 2014 did not cure the procedural defects because the mandatory statutory prerequisites *still* have not been met.

Committee. *Id.* The Prosecutor's Review Committee has thirty days after referral to make a determination as to whether or not probable cause exists to believe the person is a sexually violent predator. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-60.

If the Committee determines that probable cause exists, the Attorney General's Office must file a petition within thirty days "with the court in the jurisdiction where the person committed the offense," alleging that the person is a sexually violent predator and requesting the court make a probable cause determination. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-60. Upon the filing of a petition, the court must determine whether probable cause exists to believe that the person named in the petition is a sexually violent predator. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-80(A). If the court makes such a finding, it must order that the person be taken into custody if he or she is not already confined in a secure facility. *Id.*

Upon being taken into custody, the person must immediately be given an opportunity to appear at a hearing, represented by counsel, to contest probable cause. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-80(B). This hearing must occur within seventy-two hours after the respondent is taken into custody. *Id.* If the court determines there is probable cause then it must direct that the person be evaluated to determine whether he is a sexually violent predator within sixty days after completion of the probable cause hearing. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-80(C). The matter then proceeds to a trial on the merits, with the circuit court determining whether the person is a sexually violent predator. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(A). For persons charged with sexually violent offenses found incompetent to stand trial, however, the court must first conduct a hearing under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B) to determine if the person committed the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt prior to proceeding to the trial on the merits. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B).

Oxner's case was referred to the Multi-Disciplinary Team despite the fact that he did not fall into any of the five enumerated definitions of a person "convicted of a sexually violent offense." Although the State charged Oxner with sexually violent offenses in 2005 and he was found incompetent to stand trial, those charges were *nolle proessed* that same year. Nevertheless, the Multi-Disciplinary Team *still* found that Oxner "satisfies the definition of a sexually violent predator." (Sexual Predator Referral Form, Ex. A to Petition; R. p. 19.) Likewise, the Prosecutor's Review Committee found that there *was* probable cause to believe that Oxner "has been convicted of a sexually violent offense." (Probable Cause Determination, Ex. B to Petition; R. p. 21.) The State's petition also alleged that Oxner was a "sexually violent predator" as defined by the SVP Act. (*See* Petition p. 2; R. p. 13.) Finally, even the trial court's Probable Cause Order, issued upon review of the Petition, stated that it appears "there is probable cause to believe that the Respondent meets the criteria of sexually violent predator pursuant to the statute." (Probable Cause Order p. 1; R. p. 10.)

Pursuant to South Carolina precedent, *nolle proessed* charges are treated as if they never existed. *Mackey v. State*, 357 S.C. 666, 595 S.E.2d 241 (2004). In *Mackey*, the Supreme Court explained that a "*nolle prosequi* is an entry by the prosecuting officer indicating that he has decided not to prosecute a case," and "all proceedings following an entry of a *nolle prosequi* are void because the indictment [i]s no longer valid." *Id.* A *nolle prosequi* prevents the court from taking jurisdiction over the matter, which is what renders the subsequent proceedings void. *In re Brown*, 294 S.C. 235, 237, 363 S.E.2d 688, 689 (1988).⁴

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