ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Diane Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-001125

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF
FRANCIS ARTHUR OXNER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Diane Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-001125

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant's procedural issue is not preserved for appellate review, but even if the issue was preserved, the State complied with all statutory requirements of the SVPA.

Appellant contends this action was procedurally improper because when the State filed the Petition, the charges against him had been *nolle prossed*, and therefore, he did not meet the statutory definition of a sexually violent predator. As a threshold matter, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. *See* Issue IV below. Even if preserved, however, Appellant's contention ignores the plain, unambiguous language of the applicable SVPA provisions.

A. Preservation

“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 730 S.E.2d 282, 286 (2012) (*quoting Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 [1998]). “Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” *Id.* at 285 (*quoting Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 [Ct.App.2006]).

Appellant concedes this procedural issue was not raised in the circuit court. *See* Brief of Appellant, Issue IV. Thus, it is not properly before this Court.

B. Statutory Provisions

Even if preserved, Appellant's contention fails on the merits. The cornerstone of Appellant's procedural contention is S.C. Code §44-48-30(6)(c), which defines “convicted of a sexually violent offense” as someone who has “been charged but determined to be incompetent to stand trial for a sexually violent offense.” Relying on cases regarding the effect of *nolle*

prossed charges **in criminal cases**, he asserts he did not meet this definition because the charges against him were *nolle prossed* after he was found to be incompetent and not likely to become competent.

Appellant relies primarily on Mackey v. State, 357 S.C. 666, 595 S.E.2d 241 (2004). In Mackey, the charges against the defendant were *nolle prossed*, and the solicitor failed to re-indict him before proceeding to a **criminal trial on the *nolle prossed* charges**. The defendant was convicted, and the Supreme Court reversed his convictions, finding the solicitor had to re-indict him before proceeding to trial on the previously *nolle prossed* criminal charges. *Id.*; see also In re Brown, 294 S.C. 235, 363 S.E.2d 688 (1988) (trial court lacked jurisdiction to entertain third party motions in *nolle prossed* criminal case).

Unlike Mackey and Brown, this is a civil case, and the State is not seeking criminal convictions on the *nolle prossed* charges, or even the re-indicted offenses. It cannot be disputed Appellant was indicted on multiple sexual offenses against minors in 2005. After Appellant was found to be incompetent and unlikely to become competent, in accordance with applicable statutes, the solicitor initiated involuntary commitment proceedings through the probate court. See S.C. Code § 44-20-430 (Supp. 2016) (upon finding of incompetence, solicitor responsible for prosecution “shall initiate judicial admission proceedings”). Rather than keep the charges on the criminal docket indefinitely, the solicitor *nolle prossed* them after Appellant was committed to DMH for treatment.¹

¹Appellant’s reference to State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012), is telling. The solicitor controlled docket and the length of time cases remained on the docket between indictment and resolution were primary issues in Langford. In this case, Appellant seeks to use the solicitor’s effort to prevent the charges from remaining on the criminal docket indefinitely as a sword to preclude SVPA review.

Contrary to Appellant's contention, the SVPA does **not** require that the charges be actively pending in order to trigger the SVPA, merely that the person "**has been charged**" with a sexually violent offense. See In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Manigo, 389 S.C. 96, 697 S.E.2d 629, 631 (2010) (SVPA language "**has been** convicted of a sexually violent offense" does not require the person to be "**currently** serving an active sentence for a sexually violent offense" in order to be reviewed under the SVPA because use of the past tense language is unambiguous) (emphasis added). In 2011, DMH's decision to move Appellant from its secure forensic medical facility to a less restrictive facility triggered SVPA review. At that point, Appellant was a person who "**has been charged**" with a sexually violent offense and determined to be incompetent. Therefore, he was properly reviewed and referred under the SVPA, and the Petition was properly filed.

Appellant's characterization of his subsequent re-indictment as the State's attempt to remedy the purported procedural defects is likewise inaccurate, and ignores the specific language of §44-48-100(B), which governs the charges hearing. Unlike the "has been charged" language of §44-48-30(6)(c), §44-48-100(B) provides the court must "hear evidence and determine whether the person committed the act or acts with which he **is charged**," "make specific findings on whether the person committed the act or acts with which he **is charged**," and find "beyond a reasonable doubt the person committed the act or acts with which he **is charged**." (emphasis added). The present tense verb "is" indicates a circumstance existing at the time something occurs, rather than something that occurred previously. See In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Taft, 413 S.C. 16, 774 S.E.2d 462, 465-466 (2015) (State's burden of proof in a sexually violent predator proceeding requires proof at trial the person "is **presently** a sexually

violent predator”) (emphasis added); Manigo, 697 S.E.2d at 633 (analysis would be different if SVPA used present tense language, such as “is” or “are,” rather than the past tense “has been”).

Consequently, there must be pending active charges before a charges hearing can proceed. Appellant’s re-indictment on two charges (rather than the multiple charges filed in 2005) provided the court with specific criminal charges on which to hear evidence and determine whether Appellant committed the alleged offenses.

Finally, Appellant contends the circuit court failed to conduct a probable cause hearing as required by S.C. Code §44-48-80(B), which he asserts had to take place within seventy-two hours of the initial probable cause determination.² Again, Appellant ignores significant language in both the statute and the Probable Cause Order.

Section 44-48-80(A) provides the circuit court must review the State’s petition and determine if it sufficiently establishes probable cause to believe the person is a sexually violent predator. If the court finds probable cause, “the person must be taken into custody **if he is not already confined in a secure facility.**” If the person is “**taken into custody**” under the probable cause order, the court must hold a probable cause hearing within seventy-two hours. §44-48-80(B) (emphasis added).

The Probable Cause Order in this case provided Appellant was to be taken into custody “[i]f [Appellant] **is not in custody in a secure facility**” It further provided a hearing “shall be held before the Court within 72 hours after [Appellant] has been taken into custody, **if he is not already in custody.**” .” (Probable Cause Order filed August 16, 2011; R., p. 0010-0011).

²Appellant cites §44-48-70 in his Brief, but the context of his argument clearly indicates he is discussing §44-48-80.

It is undisputed Appellant was already “in custody” in a secure DMH facility pursuant to probate court proceedings when the Probable Cause Order was filed in this case. Therefore, the seventy-two hour requirement in §44-48-80(B) and the Probable Cause Order did not apply.

When interpreting statutes, courts must presume the legislature did not intend to do a futile act, and construe the statutes such that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part is rendered superfluous. Prot. & Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc. v. Buscemi, 417 S.C. 267, 789 S.E.2d 756, 760 (Ct. App. 2016). Further, the courts must avoid a statutory construction that effectively reads a provision out of a statute, or leads to an absurd result. *Id.*

Appellant’s assertion the circuit court never conducted a probable cause hearing at all is likewise unavailing. As the Order for Evaluation makes clear, the circuit court considered probable cause in conjunction with the charges determination, and expressly found probable cause for an evaluation. (Order for Evaluation filed May 18, 2016; R., pp. 0003-0007). Nothing in the SVPA prohibits consideration of the two issues in one hearing, and Appellant had ample opportunity to challenge probable cause at the hearing.

Taking Appellant’s procedural argument to its logical conclusion, no one determined to be incompetent and not likely to become competent would ever be subject to SVPA review, even in the most egregious sexual offense cases, unless the State left the pending charges on the criminal docket indefinitely. Interpreting the statute as Appellant suggests would undermine the clear legislative intent to include such persons in the SVPA process, and lead to an absurd result. Therefore, even if the Court reaches the merits of this issue, Appellant’s argument must fail.³

³The 2014 indictments against Appellant remain on the Eleventh Circuit criminal court docket, and will remain there until the SVPA case is resolved.

II. The statutory provision at issue does not set a deadline for conducting the charges hearing, and the delay between the Petition and the hearing was the result of factors outside the State's control, including problems with Appellant's original appointed attorney and issues associated with attempting to reconstruct a criminal case involving incidents that took place more than twenty years prior to the hearing.

Appellant also contends the circuit court erred in finding the delay between filing the Petition and the charges hearing violated his right to a speedy trial on the criminal charges. Contrary to Appellant's contention, the delay at issue was in large part the result of circumstances outside the State's control. In addition, Appellant did not timely assert a speedy trial issue.

Appellant accurately summarizes case law involving a criminal defendant's right to a speedy trial. His application of that law to the circumstances of this case is flawed.

In analyzing whether a defendant was deprived of his right to a speedy trial, the court should consider four factors: 1) length of the delay; 2) reason for the delay; 3) defendant's assertion of the right; and 4) prejudice to the defendant. State v. Palmer, 415 S.C. 502, 783 S.E.2d 823, 832 (2016). The factors "are related and must be considered together with any other relevant circumstances." *Id.* (citing Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530 [1972]). The court's determination "is not based on the passage of a specific period of time, but instead is analyzed in terms of the circumstances of each case, balancing the conduct of the prosecution and the defense." *Id.* (quoting State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 [2007]).

A. Length of Delay & Reason for Delay

In this case, a true analysis of the factors and relevant circumstances amply supports the circuit court's determination Appellant's right to a speedy trial was not violated. Appellant concedes the case proceeding quickly in the initial stages, and the attorney appointed to represent him in August 2011 filed a discovery motion in September 2011. Thereafter, all

communications regarding the case were appropriately directed to Appellant's appointed attorney.

Appellant's assertion nothing occurred in the case between September 2011 and the charges hearing in April 2016 is belied by the record. As discussed above in Issue I, the State had to work with the Eleventh Circuit Solicitor's Office to get Appellant re-indicted on charges before the charges hearing could proceed. Once that was accomplished in March 2014, Appellant had to be re-evaluated regarding his competency to stand trial.⁴

After Appellant was again determined to be incompetent and not likely to become competent in September 2014, the State started working toward the charges hearing, but any effort to schedule it was hampered by lack of communication and/or cooperation from Appellant's attorney. Further, the State had to prepare a case involving offenses occurring ten to twenty years before the sexual predator proceeding, including contacting victims and law enforcement, obtaining evidence collected during the original investigation, and helping the victims prepare to testify in court about some of the worst experiences of their lives.

After Appellant's new attorney was appointed in September 2015, the State worked to help her get all documentation available, including the 2014 indictments and competency evaluation report, and get the hearing scheduled after she was up to speed on the case and was

⁴Appellant's asserts the 2014 re-indictments and competency evaluation "were entirely unrelated to this SVP matter and were designed solely to correct the procedural deficiencies with the Petition." Brief of Appellant, p. 16. As discussed in Issue I above, however, the 2014 re-indictments and competency evaluation were directly related to the pending SVP case, and there were no procedural deficiencies with the Petition. Appellant's acknowledgement of the 2014 re-indictments and evaluation directly contradicts his assertion nothing occurred in the case for four years.

available. The hearing occurred in April 2016, **twenty-five months** after Appellant was re-indicted, and **seven months** after the court appointed his new attorney.⁵

These facts indicate much of the delay in this case was caused by circumstances out of the State's control. The State cannot dictate a timetable to a solicitor's office for indicting a case. Further, the State certainly cannot force a party's attorney to take a case seriously and aggressively represent his client's interest. The mere fact the charges hearing occurred only seven months after the new attorney was appointed demonstrates the State did not act in any way to purposely delay the charges hearing, but any effort to move the case forward, particularly after the 2014 re-indictments and competency evaluation activity, was hampered by the previous attorney's failure to actively represent Appellant's interests.

As the Supreme Court noted in Palmer and Pittman, when analyzing a speedy trial claim the court must balance the conduct of both the prosecution **and the defense**. The State should not be penalized for an attorney's failure to act on his client's behalf. Thus, for speedy trial analysis, even assuming the delay was partially due to the State's conduct, which the State disputes, the length of the delay and the reasons for the delay favor the State. *See State v. Cooper*, 386 S.C. 210, 687 S.E.2d 62, 67 (Ct. App. 2009) (forty-four month delay did not violate defendant's right to a speedy trial even though it was due to some degree of prosecutorial and governmental negligence).

⁵ Appellant's contention the Petition filing date started the clock is specious. The right to a speedy trial arises in connection with a pending criminal charge, and as Appellant repeatedly points out, there were no active criminal charges pending against him when the Petition was filed. The active charges arose when Appellant was re-indicted in 2014, which started the clock for speedy trial purposes.

B. Assertion of the Right

Appellant's failure to timely assert the speedy trial right also weighs heavily in the State's favor. Contrary to Appellant's contention the charges hearing was the first opportunity to raise the speedy trial issue, Appellant's attorneys could have filed a speedy trial motion **any** time after Appellant was re-indicted in 2014. While his first attorney was not actively involved in the case, his new attorney could have filed a motion after she was appointed in September 2015, because the charges hearing was not scheduled at that time. Rather than filing an appropriate pre-trial motion, however, Appellant attempted to sandbag the State by raising it for the first time at the hearing, which weighs in the State's favor.⁶

C. Prejudice to Appellant

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